**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED

May 22 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Barnwell County
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5846 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 11, 2021)
2017-GS-06-00066

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

v.

DEMONTAY MARKEITH PAYNE,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-001097

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **Did the Court of Appeals fail to adhere to the “reasonable inference” standard required for review of the facts of record when evaluating the necessity of a lesser included offense charge?**

- II. **Did the Court of Appeals fail to properly apply this Court’s precedent in *Knoten* and *Funchess* by reviewing certain facts in isolation of Respondent’s direct evidence as to his own state-of-mind, and in using portions of the State’s case for malice as evidence supporting a heat of passion killing?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was indicted for murder by a Barnwell County Grand Jury (2017-GS-06-00066). Assistant Solicitors David Miller and Jackson Cooper represented the State at trial, and defendant Demontay Markeith Payne (hereinafter “Respondent”) was represented by attorney Joshua Koger, Esquire (hereinafter “Defense Counsel”). (App., p. 5). Prior to trial, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, for which a hearing was conducted by the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, on August 22-23, 2017. The trial court heard testimony and concluded that the testimony of witnesses differed considerably, such that he could not find by preponderance of the evidence that Respondent was entitled to protection under the Act. The case was then called to trial before Judge Early and a jury on September 18-19, 2017. (App., p. 5). At the conclusion of trial the jury returned a guilty verdict against Respondent for murder. Judge Early sentenced Respondent to thirty-five (35) years imprisonment with credit for time served. (App., p. 244).

Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal on September 29, 2017. Respondent sought reversal of the conviction on the grounds that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a voluntary manslaughter charge. The parties completed briefing in July 2019 and oral argument was held on September 15, 2020. The Court of Appeals reversed Respondent’s conviction by its Opinion filed August 11, 2021. *State v. Payne*, 862 S.E.2d 81 (S.C. Ct. App. 2021), reh’g denied (Aug. 31, 2021). The State filed a Petition for Rehearing on August 26, 2021, and rehearing was denied by the Court of Appeals on August 31, 2021.

On September 29, 2021, the State filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals. Respondent filed his Return to the Petition on November 1, 2021. On March 30, 2023, this Court granted certiorari. This Brief of Petitioner now follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). An abuse of discretion “means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to error of law.” *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1961). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. *State v. Otts*, 424 S.C. 150, 155, 817 S.E.2d 540, 543 (Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (Aug. 16, 2018), cert. granted (Dec. 13, 2018), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted, No. 2018-001671, 2019 WL 1783684 (S.C. Apr. 24, 2019). “In reviewing jury charges for error, [the appellate court] must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). The denial of a requested jury charge is subject to harmless error analysis, and both error and prejudice must be demonstrated in order to warrant reversal. *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 270-71, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Crime

Respondent and Devante Odom (hereinafter “Victim”) encountered each other on the porch of the home belonging to Stacey Hartzog. Stacey Hartzog, Yvette Walker, Alicia Youmans, and Tyeisha Youmans were present at the time. (App., p. 18). During the encounter Respondent and Victim “ha[d] words” with each other over the course of a couple of minutes. The encounter ended and Victim walked up the street toward the intersection of Emerald Road and Wingo Estates. (App., p. 21-23; p. 110). According to Respondent, he got in his car to go home, which was in the

same direction that Victim had walked. Respondent arrived home, exited his car in the vicinity of Victim, and moments later Victim was shot and killed by Respondent. (App., p. 23). Respondent then fled the scene. (App., p. 28-29; p. 158). Forensics recovered six .380 caliber casings in the yard and street where Respondent had fired. (App., p. 60-61; p. 172). A single .40 caliber shell casing was found in the vicinity of Victim's body in the location where Victim fell after fleeing from Respondent's gunfire. (App., p. 62). No firearms were recovered from the scene. Respondent turned himself in approximately one week later. (App., p. 100). The precise testimonies of three witnesses are pertinent to the voluntary manslaughter issue:

Alicia Youmans

Alicia Youmans testified on behalf of the State. In pertinent part, she testified that when Victim arrived at the porch he asked to buy two cigarettes from her. She did not abide the request because Victim and Respondent began to argue. (App., p. 20, lines 1-23). Her cross-examination revealed that she believed Respondent was responsible for starting the argument because Respondent lifted his shirt to Victim to show the presence of his gun. (App., p. 33, lines 15-18; p. 37, lines 1-10). She could not testify as to the topic of their argument, but noted that the argument ended when Victim walked away and Respondent got in his car. Victim walked up Wingo Estates toward Emerald Road. (App., p. 21, lines 2-25). Respondent drove his car on to Wingo Estates and drove up towards Emerald Road. (App., p. 23, lines 1-5).

Victim had reached the intersection by the time Respondent arrived, wherein another verbal dispute arose and Respondent exited his vehicle.¹ She then testified, "they was still arguing or whatever, and he turned to go back to his car. I'm not sure if something was said or what happened,

¹ Alicia's statement to police indicated that Respondent "got out of his car swinging his arms. After that they got real close to each other, and that's when Montay Payne pulled out his gun and shot Devante Odom." (App., p. 39, lines 19-24).

but he – when he turned back around to face Mr. Odom, he began shooting at him.” (App., p. 23, line 1 through p. 24, line 25). Alicia testified that Victim attempted to run away once Respondent began shooting. (App., p. 26, lines 2-21). Alicia did not see Victim with a gun, nor did she see a gun in his vicinity when she reached the location where he fell. (App., p. 30, line 1-14).

Of critical import to the totality of the evidence is that the forensics supports Alicia’s version of events. Six .380 caliber casings were recovered in the yard and street where Respondent had fired. (App., p. 60-61; p. 172). A fired .380 caliber bullet was recovered from Victim’s body. (App., p. 88-91; p. 184). Victim’s body was struck four times and exhibited both soot and stippling indicative of a close-range attack estimated to be between 18 inches and two feet. (App., p. 186-188). No shell casings were recovered from where Victim was at the time the shooting began. Though no guns were recovered from the scene, only a single .40 caliber shell casing was found in the vicinity of Victim’s body *in the location where Victim fell after fleeing from Respondent’s gunfire*. (App., p. 62; p. 100). Additionally, Alicia was the individual who called 911, identified Respondent as the shooter, informed police of Respondent’s vehicle and the direction he fled, and testified that Tyeisha had gone inside of the house and was not outside to witness the shooting take place. (App. p. 24, lines 11-15; p. 28-29).

Tyeisha Youmans

Tyeisha testified that she was in her car changing the music and did not initially notice Victim’s arrival. However, she heard what she thought to be arguing and approached the porch. (App., p. 113, line 5 through p. 114, line 2). She then testified that Respondent and Victim were not “necessarily arguing, arguing, but they was just having words back and forth” and that it only lasted a few minutes. (App., p. 114, lines 6-19). She testified that Victim walked up the road to the intersection, and thereafter Respondent got in his car to leave and go home. (App., p. 114, line

20 through p. 115, line 21). Tyeisha testified that Respondent made no mention of the back-and-forth with Victim to her or the other individuals before he left in his car. (App., p. 116, lines 1-9).

She testified that after leaving to go home, Respondent and Victim “I guess . . . started having words again because you could tell that they was, like, had to be talking back and forth” down the street. (App., p. 117, lines 2-6). She clarified that Respondent had exited his car and walked into Emerald Road for this to occur. She testified that she saw Respondent swing at Victim, and Victim responded by pulling a gun out. (App., p. 117, line 7 through p. 118, line 13). After Victim pulled out his gun, Tyeisha testified that “Mr. Payne, like I said, he had, like, his hands like that, like I guess you don’t want to fight or something like that.” (App., p. 118, lines 21-23). *She testified that at this point Respondent turned around and headed back toward his house.* She testified that Victim followed Respondent and that they still appeared to be having words back and forth as he did so. (App., p. 118, line 23 through p. 121, line 25; p. 120, lines 2-4; p. 132, lines 8-21). After walking some distance back to his home, Respondent turned and faced Victim. (App., p. 120, lines 3-25). Tyeisha testified that when Respondent turned around Victim started firing at Respondent. She testified that Respondent then started firing back, and that amidst the shooting, Victim turned to run back toward the trailers on Emerald Road. (App., p. 121, line 4 through p. 122, line 5). Tyeisha confirmed that she witnessed these events from approximately 100 yards away. (App., p. 130, lines 11-24).

Respondent Demontay Payne

Respondent testified that once Victim arrived at Stacey Hartzog’s home “he said something to me that I can’t quite remember. But we engaged in a verbal argument or exchanged words, and that was it.” (App., p. 156, lines 10-12). Respondent testified that though he could not recall the topic of the argument, he recalled telling Victim “I ain’t worrying about it.” (App., p. 156, lines

18-19). Respondent further testified that he was calm during the exchange, but that Victim was less so. (App., p. 156, line 20 through p. 157, line 1). Respondent testified the girls told Victim to leave. Victim left and walked up the road to the intersection of Emerald Road and Wingo Estates, which was in the vicinity of Respondent's grandmother's home. (App., p. 157, lines 4-18). Respondent further testified that the girls told him not to follow Victim. Respondent responded by informing the girls that he was not going to follow. Respondent testified on cross-examination that the girls telling him not to follow was due to Victim's choice to stay up at the top of the intersection, not as a result of Respondent's demeanor. (App., p. 158, lines 9-14; p. 165, line 19 through p. 166, line 4). Respondent then told Tyeisha he was going home (his grandmother's home) and left in his car. (App., 160, lines 9-24).

Respondent next described how the violent altercation took place. He testified that, "After [driving home], as I was getting out of the car, he was coming towards, he fired, and I fired back." (App., p. 159, lines 10-11). Respondent clarified that when he pulled up to the edge of his trailer, he saw Victim coming. Respondent testified that they exchanged words, and Victim fired at him, and he "fired back in self-defense." (App., p. 159, lines 12-24). Respondent further testified as to the manner in which he fired his gun, describing that he was backing up shooting and not paying attention to where he was shooting. He testified that *the reason he was backing up* was, "because he was afraid for his life." (App., p. 160, lines 3-12). Respondent could not recall how many shots he fired and only knows how many times he shot Victim because of the police report. (App., p. 160, lines 13-21). Respondent testified that he did not see where Victim ran, as he was "looking back running." (App., p. 161, lines 2-4). He then explained that, "after everything – after all the fire exchange[d], [he] was scared" and made the decision to jump in his car and leave. (App., p. 161, lines 2-8). Respondent was then asked: "when he fired at you, what went through your mind?"

He responded by saying: “That the bullet was going to kill me or either I was going to lose something that I would never be able to get back.” (App., p. 163, lines 6-12). He agreed with counsel’s questioning that he could not “have taken another course” and “had no other choice” but to respond as he did. (App., p. 163, lines 13-18).

Respondent’s cross-examination added further testimony. Respondent reiterated that he could not recall the topic of the argument. (App., p. 164, line 21 through p. 165, line 6; p. 171, lines 16-21). He agreed that he was calm in comparison to Victim, whom he agreed was out of control. (App., p. 165, lines 16-18). He testified that Victim started shooting at him before he could even close the door to his car. (App., p. 168, lines 1-4). He testified: “When you’re backing up not looking, you can’t see who you’re shooting at or what you’re shooting, you just know you’re shooting to get someone away from you or anything that’s firing at you away.” (App., p. 168, lines 16-20). Respondent could not remember whether or not he had a subsequent verbal confrontation with Victim in the middle of Emerald Lane prior to the shooting taking place. (App., p. 171, lines 7-12; p. 171, line 22-24). Respondent testified that he does not remember swinging at Victim. (App., p. 171, lines 13-15). Respondent denied having any knowledge of a preexisting dispute between him and Victim. (App., p. 172, lines 20-22). When asked if there was a problem between them after their argument on the porch, Respondent thought only that Victim “probably had a hostile – hostile feeling about me.” (App., p. 172, line 23 through p. 173, line 3).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Court of Appeals failed to adhere to the “reasonable inference” standard required for review of the facts of record when evaluating the necessity of a lesser included offense charge.**

The Court of Appeals failed to correctly apply the legal standard that a jury charge for a lesser included offense is only proper upon any evidence supporting a *reasonable inference* of

guilt for only the lesser included offense. Instead, the Court of Appeals relied upon a superficial application of the “any evidence” standard by citing random, disjointed, and unsupportive facts to conclude there existed circumstantial evidence of both heat of passion and legal provocation. The Court of Appeals failed to consider these facts in context, failed to consider the causal connection required between the two, and was dismissive of Respondent’s own explicit testimony² as to his own state-of-mind at the time of the crime. In doing so, the Court of Appeals’ ruling is legally incorrect and is based upon unreasonable factual inferences that disregard the totality of the evidence presented. Its decision to reverse Respondent’s conviction was therefore reached in error and should be reversed.

a) The Court of Appeals did not abide the reasonable inference standard of review and the record is absent evidence establishing the heat of passion element.

Jury charges are generally subject to an “any evidence” standard, but jury charges on lesser included offenses are only proper where the totality of the evidence is considered and is found to support a *reasonable inference* that the jury could find the defendant guilty of *only* the lesser included offense. Numerous cases speak to this legal principle. *State v. Moore*, 245 S.C. 416, 421, 140 S.E.2d 779, 781 (1965) (noting that the degree of the offense committed and the propriety of the jury charges warranted at trial is subject to the “**reasonable inferences**” to be drawn from the testimony.)*(emphasis added)*; *State v. Lambright*, 279 S.C. 535, 537, 309 S.E.2d 7, 8

² Such evidence may not always be dispositive, in light of differences in circumstances and testimony that can exist between cases. However, when the matter of Respondent’s supposed mental state is at issue, his own direct testimony that his mental state lacked any passion or anger is monumental evidence against a heat of passion killing for which a reasonable contradictory inference would be nearly impossible to reach when the State is *likewise* not submitting evidence of voluntary manslaughter. (*State v. Niles*, 412 S.C. 515, 772 S.E.2d 877 (2015), *infra*); *Cf. State v. Moore*, 245 S.C. 416, 420, 140 S.E.2d 779, 781 (1965)(“In determining the issues to be submitted to the jury . . . all of the testimony, both for the State and the defense, must be considered.”).

(1983)(“When the evidence is **susceptible of the inference** that an accused person is guilty of only a lesser included offense, it is the duty of the trial judge to charge the lesser offense so the jury may choose.”)(emphasis added); *State v. Gilmore*, 396 S.C. 72, 82, 719 S.E.2d 688, 693 (Ct. App. 2011) (Noting that in judging the trial court’s refusal to charge ABHAN, “[w]e must examine the record to determine whether **sufficient circumstantial evidence exists to support a reasonable inference**” of the lesser included offense.)(emphasis added); *State v. Geiger*, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006) (“To justify charging the lesser crime, the evidence presented must allow a **rational inference** the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense. The court looks to the **totality of the evidence** in evaluating whether such an inference has been created.”)(internal citations omitted)(emphasis added); *State v. Small*, 307 S.C. 92, 94, 413 S.E.2d 870, 871 (Ct. App. 1992) (“Due process requires that a lesser included offense be charged when the evidence warrants it but only if the evidence would permit a jury **rationaly** to find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense.”); See also *State v. Sims*, 426 S.C. 115, 130, 825 S.E.2d 731, 738 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Apr. 19, 2019), cert. denied (Aug. 16, 2019); *State v. Morris*, 307 S.C. 480, 483, 415 S.E.2d 819, 821 (Ct. App. 1991); *State v. Tyndall*, 336 S.C. 8, 21, 518 S.E.2d 278, 285 (Ct. App. 1999).

Our Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has also weighed in favorably on the matter. *Ford v. Stevenson*, 523 F. App'x 206, 212 (4th Cir. 2013) (quoting *State v. Geiger*, 370 S.C. 600, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (S.C.Ct.App.2006)) (“In addition, the ‘any evidence’ standard Ford cites does not require a charge on a lesser-included offense unless the ‘evidence presented’ would ‘allow a rational inference the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense.’”). Even United States Supreme Court precedent (cited to favorably in *State v. Smalls*, 307 S.C. 92, 94, 413 S.E.2d 870, 871 (Ct. App. 1992)), bears out that “a lesser included offense instruction should be given ‘if the

evidence would permit a jury **rationaly** to find a [a defendant] guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater.” *Hopper v. Evans*, 456 U.S. 605, 612, 102 S. Ct. 2049, 2053, 72 L. Ed. 2d 367 (1982) (quoting *Brandt v. United States*, 412 U.S. 205, 208, 93 S.Ct. 1993, 1995, 36 L.Ed.2d 844 (1973))(emphasis added).

Of the numerous cases articulating this standard for jury charges, *State v. Gilmore* provides the most thoughtful discussion and it warrants additional attention. The Court of Appeals in *Gilmore* held that the record must show “any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence” in order to demonstrate that the denial of a lesser included offense was in error. *State v. Gilmore*, 396 S.C. 72, 80, 719 S.E.2d 688, 692 (Ct. App. 2011). “When the evidence supporting a request for a charge on a lesser-included offense is purely circumstantial, we examine the record to determine if there is *sufficient circumstantial evidence* to permit a reasonable inference that the defendant is guilty only of the lesser crime.” *Gilmore*, 396 S.C. at 80, 719 S.E.2d at 692. (emphasis added).

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