STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 15 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Barnwell County
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5846 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 11, 2021)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEMONTAY MARKEITH PAYNE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001097

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BREEN R. STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals used the correct standard of review, properly analyzed the evidence presented, and correctly applied this Court's precedent when it held the facts presented required instructing the jury on voluntary manslaughter because evidence demonstrated that Respondent shot the deceased in the sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation.

This Court should deny certiorari because the state has failed to provide any special or important reason to invoke this Court's review. See Rule 242(b), SCACR. The issue presented is not novel. See Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR. There is no dissent from the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals, and that opinion is not in conflict with prior decisions of this Court or the United States Supreme Court. See Rule 242(b)(2), (3), (5), SCACR. While the case involves Respondent's substantial constitutional right to a fair trial through the jury instructions, the Court of Appeals correctly decided the issue based upon binding authority from this Court. See Rule 242 (b)(4), SCACR. Finally, the state simply asks this Court to act as an error correction court, which this Court is not. See Toal, Walker, & Baker, Appellate Practice in South Carolina, at 21 (3d ed. 2016) (explaining "the Supreme Court has been described as a law-giving court, the Court of Appeals has been described as an error-correcting court").

A. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review.

"The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 162, 410 S.E.2d 572, 574 (1991) (citing State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989)). A jury charge to a lesser-included offense is required when the evidence warrants such an instruction. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 606, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006). "The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from

which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 308, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005); State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996); State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986).

“In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is **no** evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” Id. (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 463 S.E.2d 597 (1995); State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994)) (emphasis added).

To put a finer point on it, this Court has held that only when the record contained no evidence to support voluntary manslaughter should the trial court decline to charge the jury concerning the lesser-included offense. State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 67-68, 536 S.E.2d 666, 668-669 (2000). “To warrant the court in eliminating the offense of manslaughter it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009); see also Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991) (emphasis in original) (holding that in murder cases, trial courts should charge manslaughter unless “there is **no evidence whatsoever** tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter”).

In other words, the evidence must allow “a rational inference” that the defendant committed the lesser offense. Geiger, 370 S.C. at 607, 635 S.E.2d at 673. In determining

whether such a rational inference exists the court must examine the totality of evidence. Id. “In order to justify a charge of a lesser included offense, the evidence must be capable of sustaining either the greater or the lesser offense, depending on the jury’s view of the facts.” State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 233, 522 S.E.2d 845, 854 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Court of Appeals followed this standard precisely. State v. Payne, Op. No. 5846 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 11, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 127-128). The state now argues the Court of Appeals erred by relying “upon a superficial application of the ‘any evidence’ standard.” Brief of Pet. at 7. The state faults the Court of Appeals for “citing random and disjointed facts” and for not “consider[ing] these facts in context.” Brief of Pet. at 7. In making such an argument, the state necessarily concedes that “any evidence” existed to support the jury instruction, which is exactly what this Court’s precedent requires. Nevertheless, the state begs this Court to alter how courts – at all levels – determine whether a jury instruction on a lesser included offense is required. The state wants to cherry pick the facts and put those facts in the context the state prefers. This is not the standard, and it must not be the standard. Respondent requests this Court reject the state’s invitation to alter the analysis for determining whether a trial judge must instruct a jury on a lesser-included offense.

In requesting this Court admonish the Court of Appeals for its thorough analysis in this case, the state cites to a previous opinion from the Court of Appeals, which the state argues sets forth the correct standard by which to view the evidence in order to determine whether a lesser included instruction must be given. Brief of Pet. at 10-11 (citing State v. Gilmore, 396 S.C. 72, 719 S.E.2d 688 (Ct. App. 2011)). The state urges this Court to require the record show any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence to support the lesser-included offense. Brief of Pet. at 10-11. In other words, the state wants trial courts and appellate courts to weigh

the evidence presented, which is not the province of the courts. Not only is the state's reliance on Gilmore misplaced because this Court has never endorsed the test espoused in Gilmore, but even under the Gilmore standard, there exists any direct and substantial circumstantial evidence to support the voluntary manslaughter instruction as the opinion from the Court of Appeals sets forth in painstaking detail.

B. The Court of Appeals carefully analyzed the evidence.

The state claims the Court of Appeals failed to examine the context of the facts on which it relied and failed to determine the existence of a causal relationship between the legal provocation and heat of passion elements of voluntary manslaughter. Brief of Pet. at 8, 16, and 17. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals undertook a comprehensive assessment of the facts presented.

Manslaughter is defined by Section 16-3-50 of the South Carolina Code as “the unlawful killing of another without malice, express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann § 16-3-50. Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986). This Court made it clear that both of these elements must be present in order to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge. See State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010). Thus, “[w]hether a voluntary manslaughter charge is warranted turns on the facts.” Starnes, 388 S.C. at 597, 698 S.E.2d at 608; see also, State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001) (“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.”).

Quoting a trial judge's jury instruction, this Court explained voluntary manslaughter as follows:

The law recognizes the frailties of human nature, and appreciates the fact that there may be occasions in one's life when he may lose control of himself temporarily, be swept off his feet, to act upon the spur of the moment rather from premeditation or design. And, if under those circumstances one slays his fellow

man, the law will not excuse him entirely, but will not visit upon him the extreme penalty it would have if the act had been accompanied by malice. ... [T]he provocation which the law recognizes as being one sufficient to reduce the homicide from murder to manslaughter must be such as to involve some indignity to throw a man in sudden heat and passion. ... So, also by way of illustration, if he should meet another on the street and that one should pull his nose, or spit in his face, and on the spur of the moment he should slay him, he would be guilty, not of murder, but of manslaughter.

State v. Cleland, 148 S.C. 86, 86, 145 S.E. 628, 629 (1928) overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) (emphasis added).

As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals agreed with the state and Respondent that there was “clearly evidence of legal provocation.” App. 344; State v. Payne, Op. No. 5846 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 11, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 143). The only question was whether there was evidence that Respondent acted in the sudden heat of passion based upon the sufficient legal provocation.

“Sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation” mitigating felonious killing to manslaughter “must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 549, 500 S.E.2d 489, 495 (1998) (citing State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 399, 434 S.E.2d 272, 274 (1993)) (quotations omitted).

“The provocation must be such as to render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection and produce an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” Cooley, 342 S.C. at 67, 536 S.E.2d at 668. “A legal provocation is some act which, either alone or in connection with words or circumstances is calculated to throw one into a passion.” State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 232, 442 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1994). “[I]n order to constitute ‘sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation,’ the fear must be the result of sufficient legal provocation and cause

the defendant to lose control and create an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 598, 698 S.E.2d 604, 609 (2010). “[A]n overt, threatening act or a physical encounter may constitute sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 573, 647 S.E.2d 144, 168 (2007) (citing State v. Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 105, 64 S.E.2d 130, 134 (1951)).

“[F]ear resulting from an attack can constitute a basis for voluntary manslaughter.” Starnes, 388 S.C. at 598, 698 S.E.2d at 609. While fear of an attack, by itself, is not enough to satisfy the heat of passion element, Starnes reaffirmed “the principle that a person’s fear immediately following an attack or threatening act may cause the person to act in a sudden heat of passion.” Id. One’s mind may be rendered incapable of cool reflection by “exasperation, rage, anger, sudden resentment, or terror.” State v. Franklin, 310 S.C. 122, 125, 425 S.E.2d 758, 760 (Ct. App. 1992).

This Court reversed a murder conviction and remanded for a new trial where a trial judge refused to charge the jury on voluntary manslaughter where the evidence required such an instruction. State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 399, 434 S.E.2d 272, 274 (1993). Lowry and the deceased were “arguing and ‘bumped chests’” during an altercation near a grocery store. Id. at 398, 434 S.E.2d at 273. Lowry aimed his pistol at the deceased and pulled the trigger; however, the pistol was not loaded. Id. Lowry’s friend broke up the fight, and the deceased entered the grocery store. Id. Lowry then loaded his pistol, fired a single shot, and entered the grocery store as well. Id. The men “began arguing and shouting at each other again.” Id.

The state’s witnesses claimed the deceased told Lowry he was unarmed and refused to “take it outside” as Lowry suggested. Id. The deceased also spread his arms away from his body purportedly to show he was unarmed. Id. However, Lowry’s witnesses claimed the deceased

denigrated Lowry by saying, “You think you are a big man because you got a gun.” Id. Then, the deceased “moved toward Lowry in a menacing fashion with his arms and hands outstretched toward Lowry as if to grab him.” Id. All witnesses agreed that after the deceased raised his arms, Lowry shot him in the chest. Id. The witnesses agreed that after the deceased fell, Lowry cursed him and shot him in the head. Id.

This Court held the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury regarding voluntary manslaughter. Id. at 399, 434 S.E.2d at 274. This Court explained there was “testimony which, if believed, tend[ed] to show that the decedent and Lowry were in a heated argument and that the decedent was about to initiate a physical encounter when the shooting occurred.” Id. Because it did not “very clearly appear that there [was] no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter,” the judge erred in failing to so instruct the jury. Id.

This Court concluded a trial judge correctly instructed a jury on voluntary manslaughter where “there [was] evidence in the record which [tended] to show [Wiggins] acted in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation” because it was undisputed Wiggins was in a “heated argument” with the deceased and the deceased’s sister and the deceased “physically threatened him.” State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 549, 500 S.E.2d 489, 496 (1998).

Like the evidence in State v. Gilliam, 296 S.C. 395, 373 S.E.2d 596 (1988), the evidence at Respondent’s trial supported a charge of voluntary manslaughter. Believing that his former girlfriend’s lover wanted to see him, Gilliam went to the lover’s place of business. Gilliam, 296 S.C. at 396, 373 S.E.2d at 597. The two men argued and the lover “made threatening statements” to Gilliam. Id. Gilliam claimed the lover “took a gun from his pocket and shot at” Gilliam. Id. Gilliam then shot back at the lover, killing him. Id. After confirming that self-defense and voluntary manslaughter are not mutually exclusive, this Court held that “the jury

may fail to find all the elements of self-defense but could find sufficient legal provocation and heat of passion to conclude the defendant was guilty of voluntary manslaughter.” Id. at 397, 373 S.E.2d at 597. According to this Court, Gilliam’s “testimony that the victim threatened him and then fired at him would support a finding of sufficient legal provocation and heat of passion.” Id.

Finding evidence that Respondent acted upon a sudden heat of passion brought about by sufficient legal provocation, the Court of Appeals relied upon (1) testimony that Respondent and the deceased were in a verbal argument immediately prior to the shooting, which was so heated that the deceased was ordered to leave; (2) the argument continued when the two men argued down the street, and this argument was so intense, two witnesses described it despite being a considerable distance away; (3) Respondent tried to walk away from the deceased, but the deceased followed him and continued the argument; (4) Respondent was so angry with the deceased that he tried to punch him before the shooting; and (5) the deceased fired a shot at Respondent provoking Respondent to return fire while trying to run away. App. 344—App. 346; State v. Payne, Op. No. 5846 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 11, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 145-146).

The Court of Appeals did not, as the state repeatedly claims, take the facts out of context or misinterpret this Court’s binding precedent. Rather, the Court of Appeals examined the facts as those facts were presented and applied this Court’s precedent to those facts. First, the evidence presented showed the deceased pulled a gun and fired a single shot at Respondent, which supported a charge on voluntary manslaughter according to the case law. See Lowry, 315 S.C. at 399, 434 S.E.2d at 274 (explaining that “when death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon, the opprobrious words must be accompanied by the appearance of an assault – by some

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